No. 89646-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 69039-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION ONE

MUKILTEO RETIREMENT APARTMENTS, L.L.C., a Washington limited liability company,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

V.

MUKILTEO INVESTORS, L.P., a Washington limited partnership, CAMPBELL HOMES CONSTRUCTION, INC., a Washington Corporation,

Defendant/Appellants.

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael B. King, WSBA No. 14405 Jason W. Anderson, WSBA No. 30512 Justin P. Wade, WSBA No. 41168



Carney Badley Spellman P.S. 701 Fifth Ave., Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98104-7010 (206) 622-8020

Attorneys for Appellants

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Defendants and Appellants Mukilteo Investors, L.P., and Campbell Homes Construction, Inc., seek review of the decision identified below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division One of the Court of Appeals issued its partially published decision terminating review on August 19, 2013 (App. A). The court summarily denied reconsideration on October 22, 2013 (App. B).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. <u>Waiver of a Judicial Admission.</u> Did the Court of Appeals err in holding, contrary to CR 15(b), that the right to rely on a judicial admission cannot be waived, even when the party entitled to rely upon the admission affirmatively disproved it at trial?

This issue warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because it is an issue of first impression and one of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

2. <u>"Agreement to Agree."</u> Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that, where an essential term of an option agreement -- the purchase price -- depends on an integrated formula, and the trial court found that the parties failed to reach a meeting of the minds regarding material components of that formula, the option agreement may nevertheless be enforced in equity based on a price set by the court?

This issue warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Sea-Van Investment Associates v. Hamilton*, 125 Wn.2d 120, 881 P.2d 1035 (1994), and *Sandeman v. Sayres*, 50 Wn.2d 539, 314 P.2d 428 (1957).

3. <u>Consequential Damages.</u> Assuming the option agreement was properly enforced, did the Court of Appeals err in affirming an award

of consequential damages that gave the buyer a windfall by putting it in a substantially better position than had the seller performed?

This issue warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the decisions of the Court of Appeals in *Cornish College of the Arts v. 1000 Virginia Limited Partnership*, 158 Wn. App. 203, 242 P.3d 1 (2010), and *Rehki v. Olason*, 28 Wn. App. 751, 626 P.2d 513 (1981).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the late 1990s, Ronald Struthers and Duane Clark, experienced developers and operators of retirement apartment facilities, formed Mukilteo Retirement Apartments, LLC ("MRA"), and caused it to purchase land for a new facility in Mukilteo, Washington. RP I 105-10, 120, 144. After determining that they had insufficient capital, Struthers and Clark solicited an arrangement with Carl W. Campbell, a successful and well-known developer of retirement facilities. RP I 111-14. In the fall of 1999, Mukilteo Investors, LLP ("MILP"), in which Campbell Homes Construction, Inc., was initially the general partner, agreed to purchase the land from MRA, develop the facility, and lease it back to MRA under a 20-year lease. Exh. 225 at 10 & Exh. C.

MRA also wanted an option to purchase the facility in the future. The parties signed an option agreement that provided that the option price would be "the greater of" three values: (1) the facility's "replacement cost" as of the option exercise date; (2) the facility's "fair market value" as of the option exercise date; (3) the value for the facility as set forth in an

exhibit the parties referred to as "Schedule D," which adjusted upward 3% annually every January 1. Exh. 225 at 1-2. The option agreement defined "facility" as including the improvements and personal property on the site *and* the underlying real property. Exh. 225 at 1.

At trial, Mr. Struthers testified that the parties signed the option agreement despite having failed to agree on the meaning of the replacement cost component of the price formula. Struthers referred to a letter sent during the contract negotiations in which MRA's attorney, Ed Beeksma, insisted to MILP that "replacement cost" be defined or deleted:

The concept sets a formula for determining a price, a means of determining fair market value but does not address how to calculate replacement cost. The Option Price apparently is to be the greater of those 3. If replacement cost is to remain as one of the Options, we need to define how that is determined.

RP I 130; Exh. 7 at 2. Struthers also referred to a subsequent memorandum in which Mr. Beeksma similarly demanded: "Delete...the method of establishing the purchase price as the replacement cost." RP I 134; Exh. 11 at 5.

Struthers testified that, "fairly soon after this memorandum," he spoke directly with Gene Hiner, a representative for Carl Campbell and MILP, and insisted that "replacement cost" be "delete[d]...or define[d]." RP I 135. According to Struthers, he warned Mr. Hiner that if the parties did not delete or define "replacement cost," they would "end up with a big cat fight" about the price when MRA eventually exercised its option, and it would be a "big mess." RP I 136; RP II 18. Hiner responded that the

construction season was approaching, and it was time to stop "messing around with these documents." RP I 135. Also according to Struthers, Hiner assured Struthers that "[y]ou can trust us" because "Carl Campbell's an honorable man." RP II 17. After this conversation, Struthers and Clark discussed the matter and decided to sign the option agreement despite the absence of agreement on the meaning of "replacement cost." RP I 137-38.

The option agreement provided that the three values of the option price formula were to be determined as of the date the option was exercised by MRA. Exh. 225 at 1. The agreement further provided that the option could be exercised within a 12-month period "commencing on the...eighth (8th) anniversary of the commencement date of the Facility Lease Agreement." Exh. 225 at 3-4. The lease agreement, in turn, provided that its "commencement date" would be the earlier of (1) the issuance of a certificate of occupancy or (2) MRA taking possession of the facility. Exh. 225, Exh. C, at 2.

Before the fall of 2007, the parties understood and agreed that the option would become exercisable on June 15, 2008, based on the date eight years earlier when the certificate of occupancy was issued. RP II 41-42, 67-69; RP IV 11; RP V 55-56, 151; Exhs. 60 & 229. But then MRA hired legal counsel who suggested to MRA that the option period

The option agreement provided for a different commencement date if MILP added onto the facility, which it never did. Exh. 225 at 3-4.

"possibly could be interpreted" as commencing October 21, 2007, eight years from the date the lease was signed. RP II 67-68.

Struthers testified that, "just to be prudent and cover [its] bases," MRA sent MILP a notice of exercise of option dated November 14, 2007. RP II 69; Exhs. 66, 67. But when MILP responded that the option period would not commence until June 15, 2008, and proposed to amend the option agreement to memorialize that date and eliminate any uncertainty about it (Exhs. 70, 82), MRA did not welcome this clarification and proposal. Instead, and contrary to Struthers' trial testimony that MRA was just "cover[ing its] bases," MRA insisted that it properly exercised the option in November 2007. Exh. 78. Furthermore, MRA relied upon the November 2007 date to claim the right to a reduced purchase price, sending MILP a draft purchase and sale agreement based on the 2007 Schedule D value of \$15,557,906 -- \$466,737 lower than the 2008 Schedule D value. Exh. 84; Exh. 225 (Exh. D).

The option agreement's price formula set forth the methods for determining its three component values. Exh. 225 at 1-3. The replacement cost would be determined solely by the appraiser selected by MILP. *Id.* at 2. The agreement allowed each party to appoint an appraiser of fair market value, and it set forth a reconciliation procedure depending on the extent of difference in the valuations. *Id.* at 2. The Schedule D value applicable during each year was set forth in an exhibit to the option agreement. *Id.*, Exh. D. No provision contemplated disregarding any component of the price formula in any circumstances.

In May 2008, without notifying MILP, MRA hired Tellatin, Short, Hansen & Clark to appraise the fair market value and replacement cost of the facility. RP VI 128. Despite MRA's insistence to MILP that the option was properly exercised in November 2007, MRA had Tellatin appraise the facility as of June 2008. Exh. 110. Tellatin determined that the facility's fair market value was \$18.82 million. Exh. 110 at MRA 00849. With regard to replacement cost, notwithstanding the inclusion of the land in the option agreement's definition of "facility" (Exh. 225 at 1), MRA instructed Tellatin to exclude the land from its analysis. RP III 26-29; Exh. 281. Tellatin determined that the replacement cost for the building and improvements only was \$16.78 million. See Exh. 110 at MRA 00849. Tellatin noted, however, that the land had an assessed value of \$2,477,800. Exh. 110 at MRA 00894.

and 2008 Schedule D values as well as the preliminary loan underwriting MRA had obtained based on an assumed purchase price of only \$17 million. Compare Exh. 225 (Exh. D) with Exh. 241; see also CP 5323 (FOF 61) (MRA had obtained a preliminary loan commitment for a purchase price of "up to" \$17 million). In addition, Tellatin's replacement cost value, corrected for the omission of the land value, was over \$19.25 million. If either of Tellatin's values was controlling under the option agreement, MRA would confront a price it would not be able to pay, and it would forfeit its chance to purchase the facility. See Exh. 225 at 3-4 (requiring that MRA's purchase close within the option period).

MRA did not immediately disclose the Tellatin appraisal, even after MILP notified MRA in June 2008 that it would engage appraiser Aaron Brown to evaluate the fair market value and replacement cost of the facility pursuant to the option agreement.² Exh. 102. Instead, in August 2008, MRA sued MILP in Snohomish County Superior Court, seeking specific performance of the option and determination of a price in accordance with its allegation that its exercise of the option in November 2007 was timely and not premature. CP 5606-07.

In September 2008, MILP formally engaged Brown and promptly notified MRA of this engagement. Exhs. 123, 301. In addition, seeking to resolve the dispute over the option exercise date and thus enable determination of the option price, MILP offered to deem the option exercised as of June 15, 2008, or such earlier date as the trial court might set. Exh. 306. MRA continued to insist that it properly exercised the option in November 2007. Exhs. 307, 311.

MILP provided Brown's appraisal to MRA in November 2008. Exh. 136. Brown appraised the facility's fair-market value at \$24 million and the replacement cost (including the land) at \$27 million, both as of June 15, 2008. Exh. 107 at 002, 095, 162-3. Even though the Brown and Tellatin appraisals were both as of June 2008, MRA still maintained that it

² Mr. Clark testified that MRA withheld the Tellatin appraisal pending valuation of the facility by MILP's appointed appraiser. RP VI 137-38. MRA first disclosed the Tellatin appraisal in November 2008, in response to MILP's appraiser's valuations. RP IV 96; Exh. 311.

properly exercised the option in November 2007. Exh. 311. This dispute precluded determination of the option price under the agreement until the trial court (Hon. Thomas J. Wynne) resolved the exercise date issue in MILP's favor *over three years later*, in November 2010; granting summary judgment to MILP, the court ruled that the option period opened June 15, 2008. CP 4753-55. Shortly after that ruling, MRA hired its testifying appraiser expert, Anthony Gibbons, who concluded that the facility's fair market value was \$19 million as of June 15, 2008. RP VI 36, 94; Exh. 147.

The case went to trial in May 2012. MRA's and MILP's experts agreed that the fair market value of the facility was greater than the applicable Schedule D value, and all of their fair market values substantially exceeded the \$17 million for which MRA could obtain financing to pay. *See* RP X 100-01, 137; Exh. 110 at 2; Exh. 147; Exhs. 241 & 336.

MRA had alleged in its complaint, and MILP and Campbell Homes had agreed in their answer, that the option agreement was "valid and binding." CP 1270, 1282. But at trial MRA sought to prove that the parties never had a meeting of the minds on a material component of the agreement's price term. MRA's counsel described in his opening statement how Beeksma had insisted that "replacement cost" be defined or deleted from the option price formula; how Mr. Struthers was then rebuffed when he raised this issue directly with Mr. Hiner; and how MRA elected to close the deal even though Struthers and Clark "knew there was

no definition [of] replacement cost." RP I 32-34. MRA then opened its case-in-chief by introducing the evidence supporting these contentions through the testimony of Mr. Struthers (previously described at pages 3-5 of this Petition). MILP did not object to the raising of these contentions, or to the introduction of Mr. Struthers' testimony in support.

Consistent with MRA's evidence, the trial court (Hon. George N. Bowden) found "there was never a meeting of minds with respect to what was to be included in determining replacement cost for the facility" and that it was "therefore impossible to give effect to that pricing method[.]" CP 5324 (FOF 70).³ The court also found there was no meeting of the minds regarding material aspects of the fair market value component of the price formula. CP 5325 (FOF 72). The court further found that it "would be appropriate to rely upon" the 2008 Schedule D value of \$16,024,643, CP 5326 (FOF 77), but the court ultimately disregarded that value, as well, and set a price of \$18,725,000 based on a method not provided for in the option agreement.⁴ CP 5326 (FOF 77, 78).

The trial court rejected Brown's appraisal, including his replacement cost figure, based on lack of credibility. CP 5325-26 (FOF 74-75). But the court also found that, because there was no meeting of the minds on how to determine replacement cost, there was no need for the court to determine replacement cost. CP 5324 (FOF 70).

⁴ The court described its price as a midpoint between values set forth by Gibbons, but in fact the final values set forth by both Tellatin and Gibbons exceeded the court's price. See Ex. 110 at MRA 01040 (Tellatin's reconciliation and final conclusion); Ex. 147 at MRA 01531 (Gibbons' reconciliation and final conclusion).

As a credit toward that price, the court awarded MRA as consequential damages *all* of the rents it had paid since June 2008 (totaling \$6,033,805), resulting in a remaining net price of \$12,691,195. CP 5327 (FOF 82); CP 5328 (COL 4); CP 5310. This credit did not account for the substantial costs of ownership MRA would have incurred had it owned the facility since June 2008, such as the payments owing to the mortgage lender financing the purchase. Indeed, the credit was approximately four times the difference in cost between owning and leasing for 2008-2012 as calculated by MRA. *See* Exh. 148. The credit also did not account for MRA having delayed resolution of the parties' dispute at least three years by insisting on a right to exercise the option in 2007 (a claim ultimately rejected on summary judgment entered at the end of 2010, and subsequently abandoned by MRA).

The trial court entered a decree of specific performance ordering MILP to sell the facility to MRA at the remaining net price set by the trial court. CP 5310. The trial court also awarded MRA more than \$525,000 in attorney's fees and costs, CP 5311, which MILP paid in full pending the final outcome of this appeal.

⁵ Although the trial court ordered that the sale close within nine months, MRA has been unable to obtain financing for the purchase, a circumstance that MRA blames on the pendency of this appeal.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. This Court Should Review the Court of Appeals' Decision that the Right to Rely on a Factual Admission in a Pleading Cannot Be Waived.

MILP's primary assignment of error on appeal was to the trial court's enforcement of the option agreement notwithstanding its findings that the parties never reached a meeting of the minds regarding two of the three components of the option price formula. MILP argued that these unchallenged findings meant there was never mutual assent to an essential term of the option agreement -- the price -- rendering the option agreement a mere "agreement to agree," which is unenforceable under *Sea-Van Investment Associates v. Hamilton*, 125 Wn.2d 120, 881 P.2d 1035 (1994), and *Sandeman v. Sayres*, 50 Wn.2d 539, 314 P.2d 428 (1957).

MRA argued in the Court of Appeals that MILP was estopped to deny the option agreement's enforceability, due to its admission in its answer that the agreement was "valid and binding." *Br. of Resp't* at 25-27. MILP responded that MRA had waived its right to rely upon that admission by disproving the admission at trial. *Reply Br. of Appellant* at 8-9. Resolving an issue of first impression in Washington, the Court of Appeals held that a judicial admission is not subject to waiver. *Slip op.* at 11-13 & n.8.

⁶ See also P.E. Systems, LLC v. CPI Corp., 176 Wn.2d 198, 289 P.3d 638 (2012), and Keystone Land & Dev. Co. v. Xerox Corp., 152 Wn.2d 171, 94 P.3d 945 (2004), for this Court's most recent statements of Washington "agreement to agree" law.

An unambiguous admission of fact in a pleading may be treated as a judicial admission. See CR 8(b); K. TEGLAND, 5B WASH. PRAC., EVID. LAW & PRAC. § 801.53 (5th ed.). Such an admission ordinarily removes the admitted fact from contention, relieving the party with the burden of proof from being required to establish that fact. See Murphy v. Murphy, 44 Wn.2d 737, 739, 270 P.2d 808 (1954) (pre-rule case). But legal rights and privileges ordinarily are subject to waiver. Bowman v. Webster, 44 Wn.2d 667, 669, 269 P.2d 960 (1954). And under the rule followed in other jurisdictions, the right to rely on a judicial admission is no exception: "[W]here plaintiff does not rely on an admission in the answer of an allegation in the complaint, but introduces evidence that has the effect of disproving his own allegation, defendant is not bound by his admission." 32 C.J.S. EVID. § 628 (2013).

Contrary to established Washington law on waiver and the uniform rule in other jurisdictions on this precise issue, the Court of Appeals' holding gives special status to judicial admissions, designating them as nonwaivable. Quoting a portion of a concurring-in-part and dissenting-in-part opinion by Justice Madsen in *Key Design, Inc. v. Moser*, 138 Wn.2d 875, 983 P.2d 653, *modified*, 993 P.2d 900 (1999), the Court of Appeals

⁷ See, e.g., Cortez-Pineda v. Holder, 610 F.3d 1118, 1123 (9th Cir. 2010); Tabassum v. Younis, 377 III.App.3d 761, 881 N.E.2d 396, 409 (2008); Plemmons v. Pevely Dairy Co., 241 Mo. App. 659, 233 S.W.2d 426, 434 (1950); Dressner v. Manhattan Delivery Co., 92 N.Y.S. 800 (App. Div. 1905); Robison v. Madsen, 246 Neb. 22, 516 N.W.2d 594, 599 (1994) (all holding admissions are waived by the introduction of conflicting evidence). MILP has been unable to locate any case from any American jurisdiction, state or federal, ruling otherwise.

reasoned that judicial admissions are "beyond the power of evidence to controvert them." Slip op. at 12 n.8, quoting Key Design, 138 Wn.2d at 893, quoting Best Canvas Prods. & Supplies, Inc. v. Ploof Truck Lines, Inc., 713 F.2d 618, 621 (11th Cir. 1983), quoting Hill v. Fed. Trade Comm'n, 124 F.2d 104, 106 (5th Cir. 1941). But neither Justice Madsen nor any of the courts to which this statement is attributed ever concluded that the right to rely on a judicial admission may not be waived by the opposing party who possesses that right.

The Court of Appeals' holding is also contrary to CR 15(b) -- a rule mentioned for the first time in this case by the Court of Appeals in a question to MRA's counsel at oral argument. CR 15(b) provides for waiver of the right to rely on the pleadings where evidence that raises issues not raised by the pleadings is admitted without objection; the issue is deemed tried by consent of the parties, and the pleadings are deemed amended to conform to the proof. See Reichelt v. Johns-Manville Corp., 107 Wn.2d 761, 766-67, 733 P.2d 530 (1987).

The rule is only that the party making the admission may not seek to controvert it, over the opposing party's objection. See, e.g., Seidler v. Hansen, 14 Wn. App. 915, 920, 547 P.2d 917 (1976) (holding that the plaintiff was bound by her admission in pleadings regarding the value of the property at issue and could not seek to controvert it).

⁹ MILP addressed CR 15(b) in its motion for reconsideration, which the Court of Appeals summarily denied.

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