RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Dec 16, 2013, 2:14 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

190. 89040-	No.	89646-1
-------------	-----	---------

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 69039-6-I

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MUKILTEO RETIREMENT APARTMENTS, L.L.C., a Washington limited liability company,

Respondent,

٧.

MUKILTEO INVESTORS L.P., a Washington limited partnership; CAMPBELL HOMES CONSTRUCTION, INC., a Washington corporation,

Appellants.

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals Properly Held that MILP was Not Entitled to Raise the Enforceability of the Option for the First Time on Appeal.

MILP admitted the enforceability of the Option in its Answer and pursued a breach of contract counterclaim for more than three years before trial. CP 1270-74;1165-1225. MILP never raised the enforceability of the Option in its trial brief, opening or closing statements, or its "supplemental" trial brief submitted the last day of trial. Despite several post-trial motions and having already engaged its

MILP's sixty-one page trial brief made no claim that the Option was unenforceable. Instead, MILP stated that the Option had been "extensively negotiated by and between the parties and by their lawyers." CP 1171. It admitted that it had "proposed and MRA accepted, alternative Option language" which "entrusted the later determination of a substitute Facility's replacement cost and its quantification to the appraiser that MILP chose." CP 1175. MILP even stated it had "never disputed that MRA exercised the purchase option, nor has it ever refused to carry out its contract obligations." CP 1188.

In its *thirty-nine* page "Supplement Trial Brief," MILP continued to argue that the Option was enforceable:

<sup>• &</sup>quot;Notwithstanding MRA's claims, there are no facts which support that MILP or defendant Campbell Homes was unwilling to sell the option property[.]" CP 68.

<sup>• &</sup>quot;For its part, having followed Option Agreement price setting procedures and having received from an experienced professional and licensed appraiser the pricing conclusions reached, MILP was entitled under the contract and by law, to rely upon those calculations and it has

appellate counsel, MILP never raised the issue of enforceability before the trial court. CP 5485-88; 5491-5504.

Only in its opening brief on appeal did MILP first claim that the Option was unenforceable. MILP hoped to take advantage of the trial court's finding that there was "never a meeting of the minds with respect to what was to be included in determining replacement cost for the facility" in order to try to invalidate the Option for lack of mutual assent. CP 5478 (FOF 70). While conceding it had admitted enforceability below, MILP claimed it was permitted to raise this argument on appeal based on an exception contained in RAP 2.5(a)(2).

MRA responded by pointing to the long-established case law prohibiting parties from raising issues for the first time on appeal. MRA specifically pointed to *Neiffer v. Flaming*, 17 Wn. App. 443, 563 P.2d 1300 (1977), wherein a seller was prohibited from arguing that an option was unenforceable for the first time on appeal. With respect to MILP's attempt to rely on RAP 2.5(a)(2), MRA pointed to past precedent prohibiting an appellant from relying upon this exception when the appellant took a contrary position before the trial court. *See Hemenway* 

the right in good faith and under the contract, to ask this court to enforce them." CP 71.

<sup>• &</sup>quot;As a matter of law, MILP is entitled to have the pricing terms of the parties' written Option Agreement enforced." CP 101.

v. Miller, 55 Wn. App. 86, 97, 776 P.2d 710 (1989) (party could not rely upon RAP 2.5(a)(2) to argue a new issue on appeal when that party presented precisely the contrary argument before the trial court), rev'd on other grounds, 116 Wn.2d 725 (1991). In its reply, MILP claimed that MRA had waived its right to rely upon MILP's admission that the Option was enforceable.

The Court of Appeals properly rejected MILP's attempt to raise enforceability for the first time on appeal. It found MILP's reliance upon RAP 2.5(a)(2) misplaced, holding that this subsection was limited to circumstances where the proof of particular facts at trial is required to sustain a claim. *Slip op.* at 16. Because MILP admitted the enforceability of the Option in its Answer and the issue had not been amended into the case under CR 15(b), the Court held that MRA was not required to prove the enforceability of the Option in order to obtain the relief it was requesting, i.e. the sale of the Facility. Id.

Only in a footnote did the Court of Appeals comment upon MILP's claim that MRA had waived any ability to rely upon MILP's previous admission. *Slip Op.* at 12, n.8. Contrary to MILP's claim, the court did not hold that a party cannot waive the ability to rely upon a judicial admission. Id. The court simply noted that no court in Washington had agreed with MILP's claim that a judicial admission can

be waived merely by introducing evidence that allegedly tends to disprove the admission. Id. MILP simply ignores the rest of the footnote in which the court placed its primary emphasis in this case on the fact that MILP never raised the issue of enforceability in its pleadings or during the trial itself, even after MRA had allegedly introduced evidence tending to disprove the enforceability of the Option. Id.

MILP's petition makes no attempt to show how this dictum raises an issue of substantial public interest. MILP merely claims that the court decided an issue of first impression in Washington. As the Court of Appeals actually made no ruling regarding judicial admissions, MILP's claimed basis for review is meritless. In any event, the question of whether a party waived a judicial admission is so highly fact dependent and will vary so widely from case to case that it can hardly be said that the facts of any one case (especially a case involving these facts) would involve an issue of a substantial public interest. This Court should decline review.

Further, MILP makes no attempt to show how the Court of Appeals abused its discretion in refusing to allow MILP to argue enforceability for the first time on appeal. Under the plain text of RAP 2.5(a), it is within the discretion of the Court of Appeals to allow a claim of error to be made for the first time on appeal.

MILP's claim that MRA presented evidence contrary to MILP's admission that the Option was enforceable is not supported by any finding of fact. MILP asks this Court to impermissibly find its own facts, make inferences, and conclude that MRA presented evidence contrary to MILP's admission.<sup>2</sup> This Court should decline this request. *Quinn v. Cherry Lane Auto Plaza, Inc.*, 153 Wn. App. 710, 717, 225 P.3d 266 (2009) ("Appellate courts do not hear or weigh evidence, find facts, or substitute their opinions for those of the trier-of-fact.").

Finally, MILP's claim that MRA introduced evidence contradicting MILP's admission of enforceability is untrue. MILP claims that "Mr. Struthers testified that the parties signed the option agreement despite having failed to agree on the meaning of the replacement cost component of the price formula." Petition for Review, p.3. It also claims: "at trial MRA sought to prove that the parties never had a meeting of the minds on a material component of the agreement's price term." Id., p.8. MILP provides no cite for these false statements.

Based on the parties' pleadings, the issues to be litigated at trial were limited to determining which party had breached the Option and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For example, MILP claims that trial court's finding that there was no meeting of the minds regarding replacement cost resulted from Ron Struthers' testimony. There is no finding to support this claim. MILP just assumes (and asks this Court to assume) that this is true. Not only is there no evidence of this, but as demonstrated below, MILP's depiction of Struthers' testimony is wildly inaccurate and self-serving.

what damages, if any, resulted therefrom. Although the parties disputed the meaning of the term "replacement cost," neither party argued that this disagreement rendered the contract unenforceable.

MRA presented evidence and argument about the meaning of "replacement cost" at trial, nothing more. In its opening, MRA stated that "replacement cost" was undefined in the Option itself. RP I 34. MRA therefore argued that the definition of "replacement cost" contained in the incorporated Facility Lease Agreement or the term's plain and ordinary meaning should apply. Id.

MRA presented this same evidence at trial. Struthers testified that shortly after September 23, 1999, he had a conversation with Gene Hiner, a MILP owner, to discuss a draft of the Option. RP I 134. Hiner refused to provide a definition of "replacement cost" at that time. RP I 134-40. *Thereafter*, on or about October 12, 1999, MILP *itself* provided a method stating that "replacement cost" would be determined by the appointment of a "disinterested" appraiser. See Exs. 216, 219, 221, & 225. This subsequent addition provided the certainty regarding price that the law requires to form an enforceable option contract for the cash sale of real property. See *Valley Garage, Inc. v. Nyseth*, 4 Wn. App. 316, 318, 481 P.2d 17 (1971). Finally, Struthers testified that when MRA signed the Option, on October 21, 1999, it understood that "replacement cost"

would have the same definition as the term was defined in the Facility Lease Agreement. RP I 140, RP II 23-25. This evidence was provided to develop the parties' intent as to the meaning of this term. Nowhere in Struthers' testimony or anywhere else at trial did MRA or even MILP suggest that the Option was unenforceable.

MILP next claims that the Court of Appeals' decision is contrary to CR 15(b). MILP claims that an amendment of the pleadings occurs under CR 15(b) whenever evidence that purportedly raises issues not raised by the pleadings is admitted. Petition for Review, p. 13.

MILP fails to correctly apply the test for amendment under CR 15(b). To determine whether an amendment under CR 15(b) occurred by the implied consent of the parties, a court is to consider the record as a whole, including whether the issue was mentioned in discovery, pretrial motions, opening arguments, or in the trial briefs. *Dewey v. Tacoma Sch. Dist. No. 10*, 95 Wn. App. 18, 26, 974 P.2d 847 (1999). A court can also consider whether evidence on the issue was admitted at trial and whether there is legal and factual support for the trial court's conclusions, if any, on the issue. *Federal Signal Corp. v. Safety Factors*, 125 Wn.2d 413, 435-36, 886 P.2d 172 (1994).

The hallmarks of a trial by implied consent never occurred here.

As noted by the Court of Appeals, the issue of the Option's

enforceability was not raised by either party in their pleadings, multiple motions for summary judgment, extensive trial briefs, or during opening arguments. *Slip Op.* at 14. The trial court also did not enter any conclusion of law about the Option's enforceability and never discussed the issue at trial. The Court reviewed the entire record to see if the parties had even raised the issue of enforceability and reasonably concluded (based on the complete absence of any such evidence in the record) that the parties did not try this issue. MILP's request for review of this issue should be denied as the Court of Appeals' ruling was not contrary to CR 15(b) or existing case law.

Finally, none of the cases MILP cites support its argument that an amendment under CR 15(b) occurred. For example, in *Reichelt v. Johns-Manville Corp.*, 107 Wn.2d 761, 733 P.2d 530 (1987), the issue of a negligence claim was *actually* raised by the parties in their discovery, pre-trial motions, during trial, and the trial court actually ruled on the claim. As such, even though the negligence claim had not been pled, the claim was deemed to be part of the pleadings. Id. at 767.

Similarly, in *DiPirro v. United States*, 189 F.R.D. 60 (W.D.N.Y. 1999), the plaintiff presented evidence of her failure to have surgery to repair her shoulder following an accident. Id. at 64. Unlike the case at bar, the trial court *actually* considered the evidence and affirmatively

ruled on this unpled defense at trial. Id.

In both *Reichelt* and *DiPirro*, the parties actually raised the subject issue *before* the trial court and the trial court actually considered and *ruled* on the issue. Here, the parties never raised the issue of the enforceability of the Option before the trial court and the trial court never ruled on the issue. No court could reasonably find amendment under CR 15(b) under these facts.

# B. The Court of Appeals Properly Recognized that All the Elements for an Enforceable Agreement (Price, Parties, and Property) Were Present in the Option.

MILP next claims the Court of Appeals erred in failing to recognize the Option as an unenforceable "agreement to agree." Setting aside the question of whether MILP is entitled to raise this issue for the first time on appeal, MILP's claim is nonetheless meritless. The Option states all the material terms (parties, property, and price) to sell real estate for cash with reasonable certainty.

A contract "must embody all of the essential and material parts of the [agreement] with sufficient clarity and certainty to show that the minds of the parties have met on all the material terms with no material matter left for future agreement or negotiation." *Friedl v. Benson*, 25 Wn. App. 381, 383, 609 P.2d 449 (1980). "Mutual assent does not require both parties, however, to have an actual and identical

understanding of all the nuances of the bargain." 25 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: CONTRACT LAW AND PRACTICE § 2.8, at 43 (2d ed. 2007).

For the cash sale of real property under an option, the written agreement must merely state the parties, the property, and the price. *Neiffer*, 17 Wn. App. at 446; *Valley Garage, Inc.*, 4 Wn. App. at 318.

An enforceable contract requires manifestation of assent to material terms that are reasonably certain. *Howard v. Fitzgerald*, 58 Wn.2d 403, 405-06, 363 P.2d 386 (1961). Contract terms are reasonably certain if they provide a basis for determining the existence of a breach and for giving an appropriate remedy. RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONTRACTS § 33 (1979). Regarding price, courts have repeatedly held that price is stated with reasonable certainty where the parties agree to have price determined by a practicable method, without any new expression by the parties. *Valley Garage, Inc.*, 4 Wn. App. at 318.<sup>3</sup>

The Option contained all the essential terms for an enforceable contract for the cash sale of real estate. It identified the parties (MILP

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Valley Garage involved a written lease with an option to sell the property at a "reasonable price" as determined by three appraisers. The court affirmed the award of specific performance because the option identified the parties, described the property for sale and included a "method for the determination of a price[.]" Id. at 318. Further, having "a reasonable price" as determined by three appraisers supported the higher threshold remedy of specific performance. A greater degree of certainty is required for specific performance in equity than is necessary to establish a contract as the basis of an action at law for damages. Cascade Timber Co. v. N. Pac. Ry. Co., 28 Wn.2d 684, 692, 184 P.2d 90 (1947). It is hard to conceive how the agreed pricing method in this case is less certain than the provision in Valley Garage.

and MRA), described the real property (by an attached legal description), and provided a detailed method for determining price through the use of possibly three different pricing alternatives to be determined by appraisers. The parties objectively manifested their assent to these terms by signing the Option.

MILP's claim that the parties needed "further agreement" regarding price is meritless. The Option provided that the highest of possibly three different valuation methods (assuming all methods were actually and timely invoked) would be used as the purchase price. Further, each of the three designated pricing methods – (i) fair market value at time of exercise; (ii) replacement cost as time of exercise; and (iii) prospective fair market value of the leased property at stabilized occupancy plus 3% per year – were to be determined by unbiased appraisers, not the parties. The parties agreed that these determinations would bind the parties. There was nothing left for the parties to agree upon. The multi-faceted procedure was sufficiently definite to be specifically enforceable. *Valley Garage, Inc.*, 4 Wn. App. at 318. The Court of Appeals decision finding that all the material elements of an enforceable were present was completely consistent with existing Washington law. This Court should decline to review this issue.

MILP's reliance upon Sea-Van Inv. Assocs. v. Hamilton, 125

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